THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

*Hon. Alex Kinlaw, Jr., Circuit Court Judge*

---

Case No. 2015-CP-10-2191  
App. Case No. 2019-001403

---

**RECEIVED**  
**Oct 19 2020**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

Karrie Gurwood & Howard Gurwood ..... *Appellants*

v.

GCA Services Group, Inc. & GCA Services  
Group of North Carolina, Inc. .... *Respondents.*

---

APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF

---

**Andrew J. McCumber, Esquire**  
*S.C. Bar No.: 101559*  
**Daniel S. Slotchiver, Esquire**  
*S.C. Bar No.: 15129*  
751 Johnnie Dodds Blvd., Suite 100  
Mount Pleasant, SC 29464  
Phone: (843) 577-6531

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

---

- I. Whether the trial court erred in denying Appellants' Motion for New Trial where the verdict returned by the jury was inconsistent with the evidence presented at trial and reflects the jury's confusion?
- II. Whether the trial court erred in granting Respondents' Motion for directed verdict as to punitive damages where evidence was presented that there was a willful disregard for safety rules that were in place to prevent injury to others?
- III. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in allowing Respondents' liability expert, Dr. Leah Hartman, to testify and present scientific testimony regarding Appellant's alleged awareness of the dangerous condition based upon a methodology which lacked any indicia of reliability?
- IV. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in excluding testimony by Appellants' expert, Dr. Zdenek Hejzlar, as to the manner in which the dangerous condition at issue could have been eliminated or guarded against?
- V. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in allowing Respondents to introduce evidence of collateral sources in an attempt to impeach Appellant?
- VI. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in denying Appellants' motion for directed verdict and charging the jury on assumption of the risk where there was no competent evidence presented that satisfied the second and third elements of the assumption of the risk defense?

---

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

---

Appellants Karrie and Howard brought this action for negligence and loss of consortium claims against Respondents arising out of injuries Appellant Karrie Gurwood sustained as the result of a fall which occurred on a freshly waxed floor on or about August 5, 2012. R. 27. Respondents are the maintenance company charged with cleaning and maintenance of the premises where the fall occurred. At trial, the Respondents disputed liability and damages, and proffered two (2) affirmative defenses of assumption of the risk and comparative negligence. R. 37.

During Appellants' case in chief, Respondents' employee, Ms. Bonnie Every, testified that she was responsible for waxing the floors on the date of the incident. R. 216. Ms. Every testified that she knew the freshly waxed floor was extremely slippery and dangerous to walk on and that warnings were necessary to prevent people from being injured by the dangerous condition. R. 223. Ms. Every testified that she was aware that Respondents had policies, procedures and rules in place, and that these rules were in place to keep people safe. R.224. Ms. Every conceded that she did not use signage as required by the Respondents' own policies and procedures. R. 236. Further, Ms. Every admitted that Respondents did not supply her with most of the safety equipment and warnings that she was required to use as set forth in the Respondent's training manuals. R. 225–226.

Evidence was presented regarding which signs, if any, were allegedly present on the date of the incident. R. 237–256. It is uncontradicted that Ms. Every testified to several different versions of the events leading up and including the date of the incident. R. 247. Further, she admitted that the neither the placement of two paper signs nor the complete failure to place any signs would have complied with the safety policies and procedures of the Respondents. *Id.*

During the trial, Appellants proffered extensive testimony regarding the past, present, and future damages sustained by each of them as a direct and proximate cause of Respondents' negligence.

*See, generally*, R. 399–487; 526–557. Both Appellants provided extensive testimony as to Appellant Karrie Gurwood’s injuries and the profound impact they have had on her life as a result of the uncontradicted pain and suffering, mental anguish, loss of enjoyment of life, diminished capacity and other injurious effects of Respondent’s negligent conduct on both Appellants’ lives in the past, present, and future. *Id.* This uncontradicted testimony included the significant adverse impact that the injuries sustained by Karrie Gurwood had had on the Appellants’ marriage and lives. *Id.*

Appellant Karrie Gurwood presented evidence regarding the disabling medical condition that was caused by the incident. *See, generally*, R. 399–487. Karrie was diagnosed with Complex Regional Pain Syndrome (“CRPS”) by an internationally renowned expert in the field, Dr. Timothy Lubenow. Dr. Lubenow performed an independent medical examination (“IME”) on Appellant, whereby he confirmed the diagnosis of CRPS. R. 336; R. 391. Further, Appellant called Respondents’ expert witness, Dr. Robert Blackwell, who also confirmed and opined that Appellant Karrie Gurwood suffered from CRPS, and that the CRPS was directly and proximately caused by the August 5, 2012 incident. R. 711. Both doctors testified that Karrie’s CRPS is a permanent, disabling condition that will require future medical treatment to manage her condition. R. 337–338; R. 673.

Dr. Lubenow testified regarding the mechanism of injury that occurs with CRPS patients, and explained, in detail, the debilitating, injurious and painful nature and effect of CRPS. R. 321–325; R. 338–340. Further, Dr. Lubenow testified regarding the extent and frequency of future necessary medical treatment, including the cost of said treatment. R. 363–367. He testified that the present-day value of that treatment totaled \$776,660.00. R. 367. Dr. Lubenow is one of the world’s leading experts in the diagnosis and treatment of CRPS. R. 325–328. His testimony regarding Karrie Gurwood’s future medical care needs was based on his extensive international experience in developing and performing the procedures designed to effectively treat CRPS, and his extensive research into the costs of

necessary medications and procedures. R. 325–328; 342–343. The evidence before the jury regarding the total projected future medical bills for Gurwood’s future medical care was uncontradicted at trial.<sup>1</sup>

Dr. Lubenow opined that Karrie Gurwood is unable to work and will be unable to work in the future due to her permanent, debilitating condition. R. 297; R. 340. Testimony was also elicited from Appellant during cross-examination by Respondents regarding a permanent impairment rating assigned to Appellant Karrie Gurwood. R. 432. Respondents were allowed, over Appellants’ objection, to cross-examine Appellant as to the existence of health insurance coverage. R. 475–480.

Appellant presented testimony from Dr. Zdenek Hejzlar, an expert in engineering and safety, who testified regarding the safety hierarchy. R. 573. The hierarchy provides that the hazard should be eliminated if possible; if the hazard cannot be eliminated, it should be guarded; and if guarding is not available or effective, warnings should be utilized. *Id.*

Dr. Hejzlar testified regarding his extensive, hands-on experience with the United States military and most of the major cruise lines regarding specific steps he had previously developed and that have been successfully utilized on numerous prior occasions to identify, reduce and/or eliminate slip, trip, and fall hazards that are created when floors are waxed. R. 612–616; R. 563; R. 574; R. 589. This is the precise situation and condition that existed at the time of the incident which forms the basis of this lawsuit, i.e. a waxed and slippery floor surface. R. 27.

Dr. Hejzlar testified regarding his extensive hands-on experience with the product that was used on the date of the incident, iShine, and his extensive experience in developing and applying a process to address and reduce or eliminate the hazard created by freshly waxed floors. R. 612–616; R. 563; R. 574; R. 589; R. 614. Dr. Hejzlar’s testimony was uncontradicted – he had developed and implemented specific processes in the past for the United States Military and numerous cruise lines

---

<sup>1</sup> Respondents’ expert, Dr. Blackwell, was not permitted to testify as to his basis for estimating the cost of Appellants future medical care, although, that evidence was proffered on the record. R. 687–708. Importantly, Dr. Blackwell did not dispute that Appellant required future medical treatment as a result of her injuries, only the cost of same. R. 1507–1521.

whereby he was able to effectively reduce or eliminate the slipping hazard caused by freshly waxed floors. R. 612–616; R. 563; R. 574; R. 589; R. 614. In other words, he had developed and utilized proven processes based upon recognized scientific methods to effectively reduce or eliminate the precise slip hazard that existed in this case from a freshly waxed floor. *Id.*

When Dr. Hejzlar was asked to articulate his opinions on how these processes could have and should have been used on the date of the incident to reduce or eliminate the hazard that caused Karrie Gurwood’s incident and injuries, he was not permitted to do so by the Court. R. 629–637; R. 644–652. This was despite the fact that an appropriate, detailed foundation had been established which provided the appropriate, evidentiary basis for his opinions. *See, generally*, R. 512–629.

Further, the Parties in this matter stipulated that should the jury find that Appellants were entitled to lost wages, lost earning capacity and loss of household services, the amount of these two elements of damages was stipulated and agreed to be \$967,079.00 and \$710,316.00. R. 1101.

During juror deliberations, the jury communicated multiple questions to the trial judge including: 1. “Did [Appellant] file a worker’s compensation claim?”; 2. “If not, why isn’t the school district a party to the case?”; 3. “Can we have a copy of the charging definitions?”; 4. “Can we have the charging definitions for negligence and comparative negligence?”; and, 5. “If [Appellant] is more than 50% at fault, does that mean there is no award to [Appellant]?” R. 1425–1426.

After trial and deliberations, the jury ultimately returned a verdict in favor of the Appellant in the exact amount of her past medical bills, \$170,610.29, indicating that the jury believed the medical treatments received by Appellant were reasonable and necessary and directly and proximately caused by the Respondents’ negligence. R. 19.

However, the jury failed to make any award of any other damages including past, present, and future pain and suffering, mental anguish, loss of enjoyment of life, diminished earning capacity, permanent disfigurement, and loss of household services, including the amounts stipulated to by all

Parties. R. 19. Appellants filed post-trial motions with the court, seeking a new trial as to the issue of damages only, a new trial *nisi*, or a new trial absolute. R. 1. The trial court denied the motions, and Appellants filed the present appeal. *Id.*

---

## SUMMARY OF LEGAL ARGUMENTS

---

- I. The trial court erred in denying Appellants' Motion for New Trial where the verdict returned by the jury was inconsistent with the evidence presented at trial and reflects the jury's confusion.
- II. The trial court erred in granting Respondents' Motion for directed verdict as to punitive damages where evidence was presented that there was a willful disregard for safety rules that were in place to prevent injury to others.
- III. The trial court abused its discretion in allowing Respondents' liability expert, Dr. Leah Hartman, to testify and present scientific testimony regarding Appellant's alleged awareness of the dangerous condition based upon a methodology which lacked any indicia of reliability
- IV. The trial court abused its discretion in excluding testimony by Appellants' expert, Dr. Zdenek Hejzlar, as to the manner in which the dangerous condition at issue could have been eliminated or guarded against.
- V. The trial court abused its discretion in allowing Respondents to introduce evidence of collateral sources to impeach Appellant.
- VI. The trial court abused its discretion in denying Appellants' motion for directed verdict and charging the jury on assumption of the risk where there was no competent evidence presented that satisfied the second and third elements of the assumption of the risk defense.

---

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

---

“A [circuit court]'s order granting or denying a new trial upon the facts will not be disturbed unless [its] decision is wholly unsupported by the evidence[ ] or the conclusion was controlled by an error of law.” *Ralph v. McLaughlin*, 428 S.C. 320, 339–40, 834 S.E.2d 213, 223 (Ct. App. 2019), *reh'g denied* (Nov. 15, 2019) (citing *Curtis v. Blake*, 392 S.C. 494, 500, 709 S.E.2d 79, 82 (Ct. App. 2011)); *Folkens v. Hunt*, 300 S.C. 251, 254–55, 387 S.E.2d 265, 267 (1990)). “The trial judge alone has the power to grant a new trial *nisi* when he finds the amount of the verdict to be merely inadequate or excessive.” *O'Neal v. Bowles*, 314 S.C. 525, 526–27, 431 S.E.2d 555, 556 (1993) (citing *Easler v. Hejaz Temple*, 285 S.C. 348, 329 S.E.2d 753 (1985)). The [grant or] denial of a motion for a new trial *nisi* is within the trial judge's discretion and will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. *Id.* *Mickle v. Blackmon*, 252 S.C. 202, 166 S.E.2d 173 (1969); *Zorn v. Crawford*, 252 S.C. 127, 165 S.E.2d 640 (1969).

Qualification of an expert and the admission or exclusion of his testimony is a matter within the sound discretion of the trial court. *Fields v. Reg'l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg*, 363 S.C. 19, 25–26, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005) Similarly, the admission or exclusion of evidence in general is within the sound discretion of the trial court. *Magnolia N. Prop. Owners' Ass'n, Inc. v. Heritage Communities, Inc.*, 397 S.C. 348, 360, 725 S.E.2d 112, 119 (Ct. App. 2012); *Whaley v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 362 S.C. 456, 483, 609 S.E.2d 286, 300 (2005); *State v. Gaster*, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002).

In both instances, the trial court's decision will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. *Pike v. S.C. Dept. of Transp.*, 343 S.C. 224, 234, 540 S.E.2d 87, 92 (2000); *Gooding v. St. Francis Xavier Hosp.*, 326 S.C. 248, 252, 487 S.E.2d 596, 598 (1997); *Means v. Gates*, 348 S.C. 161, 166, 558 S.E.2d 921, 923 (Ct.App.2001).

An abuse of discretion occurs when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support. *Carlyle v. Tuomey Hosp.*, 305 S.C. 187, 193, 407 S.E.2d 630, 633 (1991); *Fontaine v. Peitz*, 291 S.C. 536, 538, 354 S.E.2d 565, 566 (1987). A trial court's ruling on the admissibility of an expert's testimony constitutes an abuse of discretion when the ruling is manifestly arbitrary, unreasonable, or unfair. *Means*, 348 S.C. at 166, 558 S.E.2d at 924.

“When reviewing the trial court's ruling on a motion for a directed verdict ... this Court must apply the same standard as the trial court....” *Shenandoah Life Ins. Co. v. Smallwood*, 402 S.C. 29, 34–35, 737 S.E.2d 857, 859–60 (Ct. App. 2013) (citing *RFT Mgmt. Co. v. Tinsley & Adams L.L.P.*, 399 S.C. 322, 331, 732 S.E.2d 166, 171 (2012)). Viewing the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, the trial court must deny a motion for a directed verdict if the evidence yields more than one reasonable inference.” *Id.* “On appeal from an order granting a motion for a directed verdict, therefore, the appellate court must determine whether it would have been reasonably possible for the jury to return a verdict for the party opposing the motion.” *Erickson v. Jones St. Publishers, L.L.C.*, 368 S.C. 444, 463, 629 S.E.2d 653, 663 (2006).

---

## LEGAL ARGUMENTS:

---

**I. The trial court erred in denying Appellants' Motion for New Trial where the verdict returned by the jury was inconsistent with the evidence presented at trial and reflects the jury's confusion.**

“Motions for a new trial on the ground of either excessiveness or inadequacy are addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge.” *Graham v. Whitaker*, 282 S.C. 393, 401, 321 S.E.2d 40, 45 (1984). “[Their] exercise of such discretion, however, is not absolute...” *Id.* Under the "thirteenth juror" doctrine, a trial judge may grant a new trial absolute when he finds the evidence does not justify the verdict. This ruling has also been termed a granting of a new trial upon the fact. *See, Gastineau v. Murphy*, 323 S.C. 168, 181, 473 S.E.2d 819, 827 (Ct. App. 1996); *S.C. Highway Dept. v. Townsend*, 265 S.C. 253, 217 S.E.2d 778 (1975). The trial judge, sitting as the thirteenth juror charged with the duty of seeing that justice is done, has the authority to grant new trials when he is convinced that a new trial is necessitated on the basis of the facts in the case. *Graham*, 282 S.C. 393, 321 S.E.2d 40 (1984).

Traditionally, in South Carolina, circuit court judges have the authority to grant a new trial upon the judge's finding that justice has not prevailed. *Todd v. Owen Indus. Prods., Inc.*, 315 S.C. 34, 431 S.E.2d 596 (Ct. App. 1993). Similarly, the judge may grant a new trial if the verdict is inconsistent and reflects the jury's confusion. *Johnson v. Parker*, 279 S.C. 132, 303 S.E.2d 95 (1983). *See also, Johnson v. Hoechst Celanese Corp.*, 317 S.C. 415, 453 S.E.2d 908 (Ct. App. 1995) (under "thirteenth juror doctrine," trial court may grant new trial if judge believes verdict is unsupported by evidence and, similarly, new trial may be granted if verdict is inconsistent and reflects jury's confusion). The trial judge must grant a new trial absolute if the amount of the verdict is grossly inadequate or excessive so as to shock the conscience of the court and clearly indicates the figure reached was the result of passion, caprice, prejudice, partiality, corruption or some other improper motives. *See, Cock-n-Bull Steak House, Inc. v. Generali Ins. Co.*, 321 S.C. 1, 466 S.E.2d 727 (1996); *McCourt by and Through McCourt v. Abernathy*, 318

S.C. 301, 457 S.E.2d 603 (1995); *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Durham*, 314 S.C. 529, 431 S.E.2d 557 (1993); *O'Neal v. Bowles*, 314 S.C. 525, 431 S.E.2d 555 (1993);

When the jury's verdict is "merely inadequate or excessive, the trial judge has the discretionary power to grant a new trial *nisi*." See, *Waring v. Johnson*, 533 S.E.2d 906, 341 S.C. 248 (Ct. App. 2000); *Bailey v. Peacock*, 318 S.C. 13, 455 S.E.2d 690 (1995); *McCourt by and through McCourt v. Abernathy*, 318 S.C. 301, 457 S.E.2d 603 (1995) (trial judge alone has power to grant new trial nisi when he finds amount of verdict to be merely inadequate or excessive).

Our State's courts have held as a matter of law that where a jury has found a plaintiff's medical expenses to be reasonable and necessary, they are required to award pain and suffering, and may not simply award just the exact amount of the medical bills. See, generally, *Howard v. Roberson*, 376 S.C. 143, 157, 654 S.E.2d 877, 884 (Ct. App. 2007), See, also, *Waring v. Johnson*, 341 S.C. 248, 258, 533 S.E.2d 906, 911 (Ct. App. 2000) (failure to award damages for pain and suffering is grounds for a new trial *nisi additur*).

In the case at bar, the trial judge abused their discretion in denying Appellants' Motions for New Trial and New Trial Nisi. The jury's verdict of damages only for past medical bills incurred is clearly inconsistent with the evidence presented and reflects the jury's confusion. In reaching their verdict, the jury found the Respondents liable to Appellants for their negligence and awarded Appellants damages in the exact amount of past medical bills incurred by Karrie Gurwood. R. 19. A plain reading of the jury's verdict indicates that the jury came to the following conclusions:

1. Respondents owed Appellant a duty, subsequently breached that duty, and this breach was the direct and proximate cause of Appellant Karrie Gurwood's injuries.
2. The medical care received to date by Appellant for her injuries, including her Complex Regional Pain Syndrome (CRPS), was reasonable, necessary and

related to the injuries she sustained as a direct and proximate result of the Respondents' negligence.

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