THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Hon. Alex Kinlaw, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2015-CP-10-02191
Appellate Case Number 2019-001403

RECEIVED

Aug 24 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Karrie Gurwood & Howard Gurwood Appellants

v.

GCA Services Group, Inc. & GCA Services Group of North Carolina, Inc. Respondents

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Robert T. Lyles, Jr. (SC Bar # 10299)
Lyles & Associates, LLC
1037 Chuck Dawley Blvd., Suite G-100
Mt. Pleasant, South Carolina 29464
843.577.7730
rtl@lylesfirm.com
Attorneys for Respondents

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

Mrs. Gurwood was not the only witness whose credibility mattered. The jury expressly rejected the consortium claim brought by Mr. Gurwood which may have been the result of the jury's belief that he was not a credible witness. That belief may have stemmed from his testimony that one of the effects of her CRPS was that the Gurwood's dreams of having children had been impacted by her fall and resulting CRPS, only to have to admit, on cross examination

that Mrs. Gurwood had had a hysterectomy prior to her fall. (See Trial Transcript at R. p. 537, line 8-p. 538, line 9.)

All that evidence establishes that there was significant evidence at trial that 1) Gurwood knew of the condition of the floor; 2) her injuries were subjective and had only been diagnosed by Dr. Lubenow while the case was in litigation; 3) she had not sought treatment for CRPS as other people with significant CRPS would be likely to do; 4) her lost wages claim was not the result of the fall and she had no meaningful, long-term history on which to base such a claim; and 5) her husband, the other Appellant, was caught directly misrepresenting facts concerning their claimed damages. The jury considered all of those facts, evaluated the claimed damages, and decided to award her past medical damages only, and assessed her with 50% of the fault. That verdict is fully supported by the evidence.

Appellants argue that the jury failed to award Karrie Gurwood pain and suffering damages after it awarded her actual damages in the amount of her medical costs, which were \$170,629.10, and which Appellants contend is inconsistent with South Carolina law. However, Appellants failed to provide any law that requires an award of pain and suffering damages where a jury awards damages for medical costs. In fact, South Carolina law does not require a jury to award non-economic damages if it awards medical damages nor is this the first case in which a jury awarded only the amount of a plaintiff's medical expenses. See *e.g.*, *Nestler v. Fields*, 426 S.C. 34, 41, 824 S.E.2d 461, 465 (Ct. App. 2019), reh'g denied (Mar. 29, 2019) and *Todd v. Joyner*, 385 S.C. 509, 517-518, 685 S.E.2d 613, 618 (Ct. App. 2008). The fact that the jury found GCA was negligent and awarded Karrie Gurwood the cost of some of her medical expenses without awarding any other category of damages is not a valid basis for a decision to grant a new trial.

Further, Appellants' post-trial motion was the first time Appellants' counsel suggested that an award of medical costs must be accompanied by an award of pain and suffering damages. Appellants did not propose, much less demand, that this Court charge the jury that if medical damages were awarded, pain and suffering must also be awarded. Therefore, this argument has been waived. *See generally* Rule 51, *SCRCP*, ("No party may assign as error the giving or the failure to give an instruction unless he objects thereto before the jury retires to consider its verdict, stating distinctly the matter to which he objects and the grounds for his objection"); *see also, McGee v. Bruce Hosp. Syst.*, 321 S.C. 340, 347, 468 S.E.2d 633, 637 (1996) (a party may not raise an issue for the first time in a post-trial motion).

The jury also found that Mrs. Gurwood was 50% at fault. After the verdict was read, the jury was asked if the past medical bills awarded had already been reduced by 50% and they said no, we want the award of past medical bills reduced by 50% (R. p. 1119, line 22-p. 1121, line 18). This clarification by the jury is simply more evidence that they knew exactly what they were doing when they awarded only Mrs. Gurwood's past medical bills.

Where a jury's verdict is "contrary to the fair preponderance of the evidence" the court can grant a new trial under the thirteenth juror doctrine. However, the evidence in this case shows that the jury was provided with evidence that created doubt as to the Appellants' claims for damages beyond past medical expenses. *See Dent v. Redd*, 270 S.C. 585, 586, 243 S.E.2d 460 (1978).

Appellants cite *Johnson v. Parker*, in their brief to support their claim that the award in this case was illogical and inconsistent. *Johnson v. Parker* is not analogous to the matter at hand because it deals with situation where a new trial was granted because evidence was found that the forelady had written 'we find the Respondents guilty' but the clerk published the verdict as

‘we find for the Respondents’. See *Johnson v. Parker*, 279 S.C. 132, 303 S.E.2d 95 (1983). In the present action, the jury returned a verdict for the Appellants for the exact total of Mrs. Gurwood’s past medical bills and intentionally excluded all other damages on the verdict form which was very clear.

In the present action there is no evidence that the jury intended a different outcome than that occurred, especially when you consider their questions during deliberations and their response after the verdict was read. As such, the trial court properly found that the jury’s verdict was supported by the evidence presented at trial.

II. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in granting directed verdicts on the issue of punitive damages or charging the jury on assumption of the risk.¹

A. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in granting Respondents’ motion.

Appellants argue that the trial court’s directed verdict on the issue of punitive damages was improper. The plaintiff had the burden to prove, by clear and convincing evidence, that the defendant’s conduct was willful, wanton, or reckless. *S.C. Code Ann.* § 15-32-520(D), *Solanki v. Wal-Mart Store No. 2806*, 410 S.C. 229, 237, 763 S.E.2d 615, 619 (Ct. App. 2014) (quoting *Bell v. Atl. Coast Line R. Co.*, 24 S.E.2d 177, 182 (1943)); and see *Martin v. Martin*, 262 S.C. 168, 174, 203 S.E.2d 385, 387 (1974) (where willful, wanton, or reckless conduct is the conscious invasion into the rights of the plaintiff). Punitive damages are a drastic remedy and the Appellants bore the burden of showing they were warranted in this case. See *Stevens v. South Atlantic Cannery*, 848 F.2d 484, 489 (Ct. App. 1988) citing *City of Newport v. Fact Concerts, Inc.*, 453 U.S. 247, 268, 101 S.Ct. 2748, 2760, 69 L.Ed.2d 616 (1981).

At the close of Appellants’ case, GCA requested a directed verdict on punitive damages on the basis that Appellants had failed to offer evidence, by clear and convincing evidence, of

¹ Respondents have combined Appellants Legal Arguments, identified in Appellants’ brief as II and VI.

willful and reckless conduct. Exercising his obligations under the law, including *S.C. Code Ann.* §15-32-520(D), the trial court properly excluded the issue of punitive damages from the jury's consideration.

Appellants' argument about punitive damages is based upon Appellants' willfully incomplete review of the evidence presented at trial. Specifically, Appellants make multiple references to the "testimony" of Ms. Every concerning the equipment she was given by GCA and her compliance with GCA guidelines for wet/waxed floors, however, the Court should note that Appellants failed to provide reference to the relevant trial transcript. That is because Ms. Every's testimony does not support Appellants' arguments.

Bonnie Every testified that she had received, understood and utilized safety procedures provided to her by GCA Services Group, Inc. to reduce the risk of accidents.

Q: You were asked by Mr. McGarrah if you try to follow the GCA guidelines and recommendations. Did you do that?

A: Yes.

Q: Do you think signage and warnings are important?

A: Yes.

Q: Independent of the GCA rule is that important to you?

A: Yes.

Q: Why are signs important?

A: So people don't get hurt.

Q: Okay. Are you concerned about that?

A: Yes.

(Trial Transcript at R. p. 258, lines 13-25.)

In support of their argument that GCA acted willfully and recklessly, Appellants argue that Ms. Every did not utilize every possible safety procedure in the GCA manual and that GCA's failed to provide Mrs. Every with each and every safety device referenced in its manual. *See* Appellants Trial Exhibits 1 (R. p. 1227), Trial Transcript (R. pp. 44-1125) and Exhibits. However, the clear intent of the safety procedures in the GCA manual was to illustrate the types of safety equipment that could be used to reduce the risk of injury. Moreover, the clear intent of the safety procedures is that one or some of the available methods be used. GCA did not have a requirement that all of the suggested safety equipment was to be used at all times.

Appellants introduced two guide sheets promulgated by GCA titled "Methods Guide Sheet." *See* Appellants Trial Exhibits 4 and 5 (R. pp. 1224-1225). These sheets illustrate that GCA was conveyed to its employees that safety methods were important and illustrated the types of methods and equipment that could be used to safeguard an area that was being cleaned. There was no testimony by Hejzlar or any other witness that these methods were inadequate or violated any applicable standard. Further, Appellants cannot show any evidence that Ms. Every did not comply with the guidelines on either sheet. In fact, just the opposite was true. Regarding the procedures in the manual, Ms. Every testified:

Q: Now does that thing say or does that sheet say these are the only types of signs you can use?

A: No.

Q: It just says types of signage?

A: Yes.

Q: Does it say you have to use every type of signage every time?

A: No.

(Trial Transcript at R. p. 262, line 18-p. 263, line 6.)

The evidence presented at trial showed that Ms. Every did follow safety procedures by placing appropriate signs and warnings in the area where the floors were being waxed. This included her testimony that she 1) coordinated the waxing with the principal for the weekend when the faculty and staff would not likely be in the office; (*See* Trial Transcript at R. p. 497, line 4-p. 498, line 23.) 2) requested that the principal make an announcement about the waxing before the weekend when faculty and staff were present; *Id.* 3) testified that she told Mrs. Gurwood directly that she would be waxing the floor over the weekend; (*See* Trial Transcript at R. p. 265, line 22-p. 266, line 17) 4) placed wet floor signs in the anteroom leading to the area in question before waxing; (*See* Trial Transcript at R. p. 281, line 17-p. 284, line 11 and Respondents' Trial Exhibits 2 and 3; and 5) made up handwritten signs warning anyone who tried to enter that the floor was wet from waxing. *Id.*

The principal confirmed Ms. Every's testimony and testified that she believed Karrie Gurwood was present for this announcement and should have heard it.

Q. Did you hear anything about the waxing over the weekend on that Friday, August the 3rd?

A. Yes.

Q. And what did you learn about waxing over the weekend on August the 3rd?

A. I spoke with Ms. Every at the time, that the floor would be waxed; and also with Mary Wood who was the secretary.

Q. Okay. And what if anything did you do with that information on Friday, August the 3rd?

A. I spoke with Ms. Every. And Ms. Every was always very particular about putting signage out whenever there was a spill or anything, so Ms. Every put up the signs that the floors would be waxed.

And then I also made an announcement when

Because there was staff in the building. To make sure they knew not to come in that weekend. Because some teachers did want to come in and set up their classrooms.

Q. Is that something you would customarily do, make an announcement about waxing?

A. Yes.

Q. And what did you say over the announcement?

A. I said that the school would not be available, the school would be locked because the floor would be waxed and it would be dangerous to be in the building.

Q. Okay. Now when I hear a principal, they make an announcement over the loud speaker, it sends shudders down my back. We need to talk about it a little bit more. Where are the speakers in the school?

A. The speakers are all over. And I do remember we have conference rooms. We have two conference rooms that when the announcements play it is so loud in the conference rooms you have to stop your meeting.

And then we also have speakers outside. Because sometimes we may have students that run and teachers would be outside. But you could hear the speakers outside of the building and all over the inside of the building.

Q. Was it your belief or expectation when you made the announcement that anybody at school would have heard it?

A. Yes.

Q. At the time you made the announcement did you see Karrie Gurwood?

A. I did not physically see her when I made the announcement. I had seen Ms. Gurwood earlier in the day.

Q. Okay. Did you have any reason to believe that she was in the building or near the building?

A. I did because her office door was open.

Q. And you recall that?

A. Yes.

(Trial Transcript at R. p. 497, line 4-p. 498, line 23.)

Based on the totality of the evidence, and the unrefuted evidence that Ms. Every was conscious of the risks involved in waxing and undertook several efforts to communicate that concern to the staff in general, and to Mrs. Gurwood in particular, the trial court properly concluded that the Appellants simply did not meet their burden of establishing sufficient clear and convincing evidence that the Ms. Every's actions were reckless, willful, wanton, or malicious to merit submission of the issue of punitive damages to the jury, performing the precise function required by the legislature in *S.C. Code* §15-32-520.

B. The trial court's denial of a directed verdict as to not charging the jury on assumption of the risk was proper because evidence was presented that the Plaintiff knew of the dangerous condition and appreciated the nature and extent of the danger.

Appellants conversely argue that there was no evidence to support a jury charge on assumption of the risk and that this Court should have granted Appellants' directed verdict

motion on that issue. This is also incorrect. First, there was sufficient evidence to warrant the submission of the issue of assumption of the risk to the jury. Second, any error was harmless because the trial court also properly charged the jury with comparative fault without objection from Appellants counsel.

To establish an assumption of the risk defense in South Carolina, the defense must show the: 1) plaintiff had knowledge of the facts constituting a dangerous condition; 2) plaintiff knew the condition was dangerous; 3) plaintiff appreciated the nature and extent of the danger; and 4) plaintiff voluntarily exposed herself to the danger. *Singleton v. Sherer*, 377 S.C. 185, 206, 659 S.E.2d 196, 207 (Ct. App. 2008). Assumption of risk also no longer serves as a complete bar to a negligence claim; rather, the defense is simply another factor to consider in comparing the parties' negligence. *Id.* “The doctrine is predicated on the factual situation of a defendant’s acts alone creating the danger and causing the accident, with the plaintiff’s act being that of voluntarily exposing himself to such an obvious danger with appreciation thereof which resulted in the injury.” *Senn v. Sun Printing Co.*, 295 S.C. 169, 173, 367 S.E.2d 456, 458 (Ct. App. 1988).

Here, there was evidence to support an instruction for the assumption of the risk. Evidence was presented that Karrie Gurwood was made aware of the hazardous condition that led to her fall in numerous respects. Every and Jamme testified that they told Karrie Gurwood about the waxing before it occurred. (*See* Trial Transcript at R. p. 265, line 22-p. 266, line 17 and R. p. 497, line 4-p. 498, line 23.) There was also abundant evidence of what Ms. Every did to warn of the wet floor at the time it was waxed, such as the floor signs and the handwritten signs she placed at the entrance of the area in question. Finally, the jury heard about the missing black

mat from Mrs. Gurwood and saw her small, cautious steps in the video. (*Id.* at R. p. 484, line 7-p. 485, line 6.)

Assumption of the risk is a question for the jury. *Creighton v. Coligny Plaza Ltd Partnership*, 334 S.C. 96, 113 S.E.2d 510 (Ct. App. 1998) citing. *Id.* citing *Small v. Pioneer Mach., Inc.*, 316 S.C. 479, 450 S.E.2d 609 (Ct.App.1994); *Singletary v. South Carolina Dep't of Educ.*, 316 S.C. 153, 447 S.E.2d 231 (Ct.App.1994). Given all of that evidence and testimony, the trial court properly charged the jury on the assumption of the risk and denied the Appellants' directed verdict motion for the same.

Further, any error was harmless. In this action the jury was charged on comparative fault without objection.

III. The Trial Court did not abuse its discretion in regard to expert testimony.²

A. Dr. Leah Hartman's testimony was based her knowledge and expertise and was properly admitted.

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